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INTRODUCTION


WRITING IN ONE of the earliest biographies of Grinling Gibbons in 1914, Grinling Gibbons and the Woodwork of his Age, Henry Avray Tipping states that Gibbons requires no introduction and is already a household name, being known ‘in the sphere of the Decorative Arts in England’. Tipping also refers to him as a designer and sculptor. Yet there has been considerable debate throughout our finest periods of architecture on the role of these craftsmen, whether they were joiners, carpenters, stonemasons or other similarly skilled workmen.


In Saxon times, the carpenter was the principal lead in all matters related to building and furnishing. This continued through the Middle Ages where the carpenter maintained a dominant position, until the beginning of the fifteenth century when joiners and carvers began to be mentioned, and a broad distinction arose between those who used wood simply and constructively and those who used it for more elaborate details. The London carpenters led the way, establishing themselves as a guild with a coat of arms in 1466 and eventually receiving a Royal Charter of Incorporation in 1477. However, a hundred years later, Queen Elizabeth I gave the same privileges to joiners and ceilers. Their charter called them the mystery of Junctorum et Celutorum and the ‘junctor’ elaborately joined pieces of wood with glue or nails and by means of grooves, dovetails and framing. He became the maker of a vast array of furniture including the dresser, the court cupboard, the light chair and the joined table, all of which proliferated under Elizabeth I. A fashion also emerged for the replacement of plain boarded walls with framed wainscoting, which was beginning to be introduced in many of the smaller manor houses and included mantelpieces and door frames and cases. However, if further ornamentation was required, the joiner would call in the other branch of his craft – the ceiler – who was also a woodworker. Tipping explains that ‘to ceil was to cover bare walls and ceiling rafters with ornamental woodwork, and must be derived from the Latin verb, celare, to hide or cover up’. However, the charter of incorporation from the Elizabethan era also described him as a caelator, or carver in bas-relief, of classical Rome. The work of the time was often described by many as clumsy and not especially refined and, in most cases, the same person was both the joiner and ceiler.


The work of Inigo Jones had an immense influence on seventeenth-century architecture and he laid the foundations for the glorious joinery that distinguished the Stuart period. This became the age of the joiner rather than the carpenter. Friction remained between the two crafts of joinery and carpentry, and their respective livery companies were frequently at loggerheads in the early part of the seventeenth century. In 1632, a committee of aldermen attempted to define the sphere of each craft but failed to satisfy the carpenters, and the rivalry continued well into the seventeenth century. This came to a head in 1672 when the Company of Joiners and Ceilers petitioned the Lord Mayor and aldermen to attempt to enforce the rules laid down in 1632, which were ‘daily broken by the carpenters’. Over time, and especially during the period of the rebuilding of St Paul’s Cathedral, the carpenters were limited to plain constructional work. The abundance and excellence of joiners’ work increased considerably over the time with the joiners’ craft assuming larger and more sumptuous proportions while the forms of furniture multiplied and became more elaborate, and the output of work increased rapidly.




[image: ../img/SLI874_002.jpg]

Portrait of Grinling Gibbons by John Smith, (1690).







During the early seventeenth century, the use of wainscoting continued as a general system of wall lining and was fashionable in halls and churches as well as more ordinary rooms. But wainscot design and its wider treatment was to be revolutionised in the second half of the seventeenth century. Wainscoting at the beginning of the century followed natural rules and was dictated by the material used. Oak boards of a width that could be easily obtained from an ordinary-sized oak tree were set into grooved stiles and were of sufficient thickness to give some solidity without warping. However, decoration was very simple. This was to change as, towards the end of the seventeenth century, we see enormous panels of wood. Wood was easily obtainable as a wall lining in England and it lent itself to new fashions so the joiners of the time had to adapt accordingly. By the time Grinling Gibbons was working, great panels were available, 3–5 feet wide and 8–12 feet high. It was of course impossible to procure boards of this size, therefore two or more boards had to be carefully glued together and the most skilful of joiners would select boards of a similar grain so the join could not be seen. These panels with their mouldings had to be cleverly built up of many sections, pieced and glued and ultimately reinforced, giving the ultimate appearance of a solid wall. The joiners of this period proved equal to the task and used the best wood available to them and, in most cases, the use of oak prevailed in churches, palaces and public buildings as well as private houses. After the joiner had prepared and partly set up his wainscoting and other woodwork, the carver would be called in, and the finish that was now demanded eventually separated the two branches of this craft. A number of these carvers of the late Renaissance period were members of the Joiners’ Company, but became distinguished by their specialised name – that of carvers. As Tipping summarises, ‘if ornament was now placed with more learnedness and reserve than of yore it was not used any the less. In all important designs of the period the eye rests with pleasure on large, plain surfaces, but it rests there only after having feasted on the exceeding richness of the rightly ordered and balanced decorated portions.’



Of all the wood carvers of this period, one name is synonymous with carving and was to become the master carver himself – Grinling Gibbons. Gibbons has often been called the ‘British Bernini’ and shared with the great Italian an ability to breathe life into still material. Carefully carved cascades of fruit and flowers, faces of cherubs with puffed out cheeks, crowds of figures and flourishes of architecture – a tumultuous world of pure energy and animation – were to tumble from the hands of Gibbons to grace stately homes and royal palaces across the country. Where Bernini worked with marble, however, Gibbons was a woodcarver; he was neither a joiner nor a carpenter. A more apt description would be that of art writer, William Aglionby (1641–1705), who called him the ‘Michelangelo of Wood’. Gibbons’ work was ultimately to include lucrative and prestigious commissions in St Paul’s Cathedral, Hampton Court Palace and Petworth House, to name just a few. From a journeyman born in Rotterdam to the king’s carver, this book celebrates Grinling Gibbons’ unequalled talent, his visionary genius, and his ability to transform the medium of wood into something magical.
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The King David relief at Fairfax House.








THE ORIGINS AND GENIUS OF GRINLING GIBBONS



THE MAN DESCRIBED by Horace Walpole as an ‘original genius’, Grinling Gibbons was born in Rotterdam on 4 April 1648. His father James ‘Gibbens’ was a citizen draper from London and his mother was Elizabeth Gorlings. Her great-grandfather was Sir Simon Hansacre of Worcestershire, whose daughter and heiress (Eleanor) married Richard Dynely. The Dynelys’ daughter, Elizabeth, married Francis Grinling; and it is their daughter Elizabeth, her surname now appearing as Gorlings, who became Grinling Gibbons’ mother.


James and Elizabeth were married in 1637 in Rotterdam and lived there for at least ten years after Grinling’s birth. Their firstborn child, Elizabeth, was baptised in 1644 at the Dutch Reformed Church in Rotterdam. Francis Gorlings, the father of Mrs Gibbens, is thought to have been an English merchant who had dealings in tobacco in Rotterdam and had died there in 1640. Gibbons’ paternal grandfather was involved in the Merchant Tailors’ Company in 1588, and his father with the Drapers’ Company in 1638. James and Elizabeth Gibbens were therefore part of a small group of English merchants with obvious roots in England and links with drapers and tailors. The young Grinling Gibbons therefore had his formative years in Rotterdam but very few records exist of his time there. What is clear is that his parents sought out a good sculptor’s studio for him to enter, although their reason for this is not known.


For a short while, it appears that Gibbons worked in the workshop of Artus Quellin I (1609–68), a Flemish sculptor who had spent several years studying in Rome. Quellin had left the Netherlands at the age of twenty and spent some time from about 1630 working in the studio of François Duquesnoy (1597–1643). A master of high baroque decoration, Duquesnoy had previously worked for Bernini at St Peter’s in Rome. Quellin therefore would have had many opportunities to enhance his own skills before returning to Antwerp in 1639. These skills included the art of woodcarving, which he passed on to his cousin, Artus Quellin II (1625–1700), with whom Gibbons was also later to work.
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Artus Quellin II by Conrad Lauwers.






For Gibbons it was perhaps a case of being in the right place at the right time as he was born in the same year that construction of the Stadthuys or town hall of Amsterdam (now the Royal Palace) commenced, in the classical style, to the designs of the architect Jacob van Campen (1595–1657). By 1650, the Quellin workshop was involved in its sculptural decoration and the work of both Quellins at the Stadthuys with their carvings would have had an impact on the young Gibbons. Artus II, like his cousin, was known internationally and their work owed much to ancient Roman sculpture as well as to the work of Rubens in Antwerp and Duquesnoy in Rome. Much later, Gibbons would collaborate with Arnold and Thomas Quellin, the sons of Artus II, on various monuments in England. However, overall, the Quellin influence on the young Gibbons was quite specific and somewhat limited and has often been exaggerated.





By 1667, Gibbons had moved to England, and by 1668 he was living in York. It is not clear why he chose York, but there was an active Company of Merchant Adventurers there, shipping cloth to Germany and across the North Sea, and it is likely that Grinling’s father had trade connections in Yorkshire. Here he become acquainted with John Etty (c.1634–1708), an architect and a descendant of a long line of mason-builder-carpenters in the city who would likely have advised him about decorative work in England. From his days in Yorkshire, there survives one piece of his work known to have roots with the county. Carved in boxwood, the King David relief is of a diminutive scale. Gibbons, who was familiar with and inspired by continental works of art, would have been well acquainted with Johannes Sadeler’s (1550–1600) engraving after the work of Peter Candid’s The Performance of a Motet of Orlando di Lasso, of c.1589–93. Gibbons’ own love of music, which would be a constant presence in his later works, is also plain here.
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Amsterdam Town Hall by Gerrit Berckheyde, 1693.





The original painting and subsequent engraving were based on Psalms 148 and 150. King David is envisioned playing a harp, with dancing cherubs encircling him; in the heavens above him St Cecilia, the patron saint of music, can be seen in the company of angelic musicians. In addition to David’s own harp, the panel features a fine assortment of musical instruments, from a viola da gamba to an organ. The panel is thought originally to have been finished with another party of cherubs below King David’s feet, and it seems likely, based on the size and subject matter of the panel, that it was commissioned to decorate an organ case in a church or chapel.


Interestingly, the panel bears more than a passing resemblance to the narrative relief made famous for captivating John Evelyn – the Crucifixion after Tintoretto (1671). Although the Crucifixion is carved instead in limewood, it has many stylistic similarities to the King David panel, and both panels make plain Gibbon’s use of engravings as inspiration for several of his early compositions. Evident in the King David panel are crucial and unique visual evidence of Gibbons’ evolving style, influences and talent, and, when cross-referenced with the Crucifixion, these two samples of his early narrative pieces provide key evidence for assessing what it was about his work that elevated him above all similar craftsmen to become England’s greatest carver.


Gibbons was eventually to move again and after York ‘where he was first imployed … afterwards came to London and settled with his family at Detford and follow’d ship carving’. Here the young Gibbons was spotted by none other than diarist John Evelyn, who wrote in his diary for 18 January 1671:



I this day first acquainted his Majestie with that incomparable young man Gibson whom I had lately found in an obscure place & that by mere accident, as I was walking neere a poore solitary thatched house in a field in our Parish neere Says-Court: I found him shut in, but looking into the window, I perceiv’d him carving that large Cartoone or Crucifix of Tintorets … I asked why he worked in such an obscure & lonesome place; he told me he might apply himselfe to his profession without interruption …
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Evelyn discovering Grinling Gibbons, while carving that ‘large Cartoone or Crucifix of Tintorets’.





The diarist was already well acquainted with Charles II and told the king of the great skill of this young carver, requesting if he might bring him and his work to Whitehall. ‘The King sayd, he would himselfe goe see him: This was the first notice his Majestie ever had of Mr Gibbons.’ The king never went to see Gibbons and different accounts exist to Evelyn’s. Notes from George Vertue (1684–1756) state that the actor-manager Thomas Betterton had asked Gibbons to ‘carve for him the Ornements and decorations’ of his new theatre in Dorset Gardens which opened in November 1671. It was alleged at the time that ‘Sir Peter Lilly was well pleased and inquiring after the Artist that performed them, Mr Gibbons by his means was recommended to the King Charles 2d who had ordered the beautifying the Palace of Windsor in which work he was imployd.’


However, Evelyn noted on 13 February 1671 that he had that day dined with Christopher Wren, Surveyor-General of the King’s Works, Samuel Pepys and other friends and that he had ‘carried them to see the piece of Carving which I had recommended to the King’. On 1 March 1671, his diary entry records that Evelyn had ‘caused Mr Gibbon to bring to Whitehall his excellent piece of carving’ which was set down at the home of Evelyn’s father-in-law Sir Richard Browne and the king walked there to view the piece. Evelyn recorded ‘no sooner was he entred, & cast his eye on the Worke but he was astonish’d at the curiositie of it, & having considred it a long time, & discours’d with Mr Gibbon, whom I brought to kiss his hand, he commanded it should be immediately carried to the Queenes side to show her Majestie’.


Whatever the truth behind the introductions to the king, by 1677, Gibbons was soon well into woodcarving at Windsor Castle. There is little other documentation for Gibbons’ carving activities up until his time at Windsor Castle. He married in 1671 and thereafter his children’s details begin to appear in local parish registers. His address is recorded as ‘La Belle Sauvage’ on Ludgate Hill just below the still-gutted St Paul’s Cathedral. Gibbons retained premises there until at least into the 1680s, though by 1678 he had moved to the house in Covent Garden which he would keep for the rest of his life. Gibbons’ wife Elizabeth bore at least twelve children and we know of five boys and seven girls. More than one daughter outlived her parents but sadly no sons seem to have reached maturity.


After his move to London from Deptford, probably in 1671, Gibbons’ professional life took off. In January 1672, he was admitted to the Drapers’ Company on the grounds of patrimony rather than profession, there being no city company for woodcarvers or sculptors. There would have been social advantages to membership in the Drapers’ Company. The same year Gibbons took on an apprentice, implying that he was busy after his Dorset Garden commission, and by 1675, even before work had started at Windsor Castle, he had taken on another apprentice. Over the succeeding years, Gibbons was to rise within the hierarchy of the Drapers’ Company, eventually becoming a Warden in 1705, and several times standing for the Mastership, each time unsuccessfully. Gibbons had an active social life and by 1709 he served his second term as steward of the St Luke’s Club, an association of ‘men of the highest character in the arts and gentlemen lovers of art’. He was moving in the right circles and, on 7 August 1679, he was reacquainted with Evelyn, whose diary the following morning described how the latter went ‘to shew My L: Chamberlaine, his Lady, & the Dutchesse of Grafton, the incomparable work of Mr Gibbons the Carver whom I first recommended to his Majestie, his house being furnish’d like a Cabinet, not onely with his owne work, but divers excellent Paintings of the best hands’. This would have been Gibbons’ own house in Bow Street, Covent Garden where he had now settled. Covent Garden had been developed to the designs of Inigo Jones and was especially popular among well-to-do artists; Gibbons felt it ‘a Credit to live there’.


In addition to the works at Windsor, at this time Gibbons was focused on Holme Lacy, Sudbury Hall and Cassiobury Park, the earliest-known houses in England to be decorated with limewood foliage carving. Gibbons had also worked in the Dorset Gardens playhouse which opened in November, 1671, where his work was likely to have been in limewood, and his work after certainly was. The playhouse has often been attributed to Sir Christopher Wren, but is most likely to have been by his associate, Robert Hooke. The use of lime, rather than English oak, is one of the strongest indications that Gibbons had ceased to regard ornamental carving as ‘journeyman work’, and he introduced limewood to England and turned it into a medium for decorative carving. Limewood and its grain structure made this wood suitable for the curviform shapes of leaf, fruit and flower, and for their thin stems too. Another advantage of using limewood was that it soon became apparent from the first moment Gibbons mounted his limewood work on the oak wainscoting of Holme Lacy or Cassiobury Park that limewood presents an arrestingly pale appearance, which would have been completely unexpected at the time, the paleness presenting a sharp visual contrast between decoration and background, and focusing attention on the carving. At Cassiobury Park, Sudbury Hall and Holme Lacy, Gibbons also introduced his most impressive feature which he was to use many times and which became the principal form his carving would take in years to come – the great overmantel. One of the finest examples was at Cassiobury Park, in the Inner Library with its fluent acanthus scrolls, flower baskets, oboe and score, all to be repeated in later works.
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Overmantel at Sudbury Hall, Derbyshire, 1678.
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Views and floor plan of Cassiobury House, prior to and during the remodelling that began in 1800, drawn by A.W. Pugin and engraved by J. Hill, from The History of Cassiobury Park by John Britton.
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Interior view of the Great Library, drawn by A.W.N. Pugin, engraved by F. Lewis, from The History of Cassiobury Park by John Britton.






Architect Hugh May was also associated with both Holme Lacy and Cassiobury Park. Holme Lacy was commenced in 1674 and it was to be completed in 1675 although May’s precise role in the development is somewhat clouded. At Cassiobury there is no doubt that Hugh May was involved, as Evelyn says ‘built by my friend Mr. Hugh May’ and describes it as being filled with ‘carving by Gibbons’. May was appointed by the Earl of Essex, with works well under way by 1675. Gibbons would work remotely within his workshop and his carvings may have required more time than the actual construction of a house. Gibbons would set the tasks for his carvers as soon as a contract was agreed and dimensions fixed, and carving continued many months after construction was completed and the owner had taken up residence. Holme Lacy and Cassiobury were built simultaneously and preceded his work at Windsor. It is also clear that Gibbons had already carried out important commissions for Hugh May before the presentation of his work to Charles at Windsor. Gibbons’ style was therefore formed within the walls of these early houses and the influence of Hugh May was to be significant.
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The Winter Dining Room, Cassiobury, 1821, William Henry Hunt. Hunt was a friend of the fifth Earl of Essex, who produced interiors and exteriors of Cassiobury including this watercolour, which shows off the exquisite woodcarvings by Gibbons.
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The north side of the Inner Library.





Hugh May was born in England but lived for an extended period in Holland which ensured that May was familiar not only with Dutch Palladianism but also with more advanced baroque aspects of Dutch art. May, in some of his early commissions, introduced red-brick Dutch classical style to England and this classicism became the bedrock of Gibbons’ own sensibility with his carvings blossoming on four-square, plain wainscoted surfaces. May embraced wholly baroque decorative elements which suited Gibbons’ flamboyant limewood carving, with its immense projections and striking tonal contrast, and these were the best conditions for the birth of Gibbons’ new style. Gibbons, for the time being, continued to be ignored by Wren, the Surveyor-General, until Wren’s own evolution towards the baroque, and St Paul’s Cathedral, meant he could no longer ignore Gibbons, whose experience and success made his work an obligatory part of royal construction.
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A Gibbons woodcarving from Cassiobury House, on long-term loan to Watford Museum from the Royal Cornwall Museum, Truro.
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Luton Hoo, where some of Gibbons’ carvings were acquired on the sale of the contents of Cassiobury House in 1922, but with the majority sold to American museums. Here an eagle dominates the central position of Gibbons’ design with the portrait of Gibbons himself central to the whole display.
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Gibbons’ organ case in St James’s Piccadilly.







BY ROYAL APPOINTMENT



MUCH OF WHAT we know of Gibbons today stems from notes by John Evelyn (1620–1706) and George Vertue. At times their notes conflict and have challenged historians over many years, but they offer a useful insight into the rise of this remarkable man. By 1673, architect Hugh May, now promoted to Comptroller of the Works at Windsor, was responsible for the remodelling of many of the buildings at Windsor Castle, replacing the fourteenth-century buildings of Edward III in the Upper Ward with new suites of magnificent State Apartments. By 1677, most of these new apartments were ready for the carvers and, by the end of the year, Gibbons sent in his first account for work in a royal property.



Grinling Gibbons and Henry Phillips Carvers for severall sorts of Carved Workes by them performed upon the Chimney-peeces, Pedestalls and picture fframes of the Kings Greate and Little Bed Chambers and Presence, his Majesties Closett, Musicke Roome, Eateing Roome, withdrawing Roome and Backstaires, the Queenes withdrawing Roome, Bed Chamber and Gallery, and in iii rooms at the Dutchesse of Portsmouth Lodgings – As by Two bills 625 1.14s.




Phillips was officially Master Sculptor and Master Carver in Wood and was by this time a much older man, and by 1679 Gibbons was carving alone. Phillips’ cousin, William Emmett (1641–1700), eventually took the position of Master. Gibbons was in fine company at Windsor. In the King’s Eating Room, Gibbons carved while the Italian decorative painter Antonio Verrio painted the ceiling, where his subject is ‘the Feast of the Gods’, a theme Gibbons took up in his elaborate carvings, with lobsters and shell-garlands on his overmantel. Here he provided a frame, projecting outwards by well over a foot, of fruit and flowers on an immense scale, while alcoves were decorated as game larders hung with teal, woodcock and waders, with gourds, rabbits, fruit, flowers and fish. Windsor gave Gibbons the chance to display his unique talent with exceptional work. It was here he also practised, not for the first time, the trompe l’oeil technique in which a bird was carved on top of a complacent rabbit, and a garland trailed across the bird. Other quirks he introduced included barley on the duck’s plumage. This great room displays Gibbons’ love for continuity, which he created by means of a ruched ribbon running from one section to another, which encouraged the eye to move easily. Gibbons abhorred any vacuum and filled his spaces with creativity that matched no other carver of the time.
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Carving now in the Waterloo Chamber, formerly in the King’s Chapel, 1680–2.





Other work that Gibbons carried out at Windsor included the Queen’s Audience Chamber, which he was working on in 1677 and 1678. Here he carved a frame containing The Beheading of Mary, Queen of Scots, and at the top of the frame are the letters ‘MR’. Again, Gibbons exhibited his usual flamboyance which included sunflowers and martagon lilies, forget-me-nots and what became his famous trademark, pea pods. When he worked on the frame of William of Orange, he created a crush of hops, palms and roses and, for the first time, willow leaves. Less successful was the frame for Frederick of Orange with the symbolic oranges out of proportion. Other frameworks were also less successful including an example in the Queen’s Presence Chamber where one of the frames displays an eagle suffering from a painful contortion of the neck, sunflowers with coarse and less defined petals, with pears, roses and peonies which do not display the usual tactile quality of his other work. Why Gibbons tolerated lesser work is unknown but may well be due to his employment of assistants at the time. His account submitted between 1680 and 1682 describes much of his work at Windsor:



For Carving Worke done & laid upon xxvii Seates and Stalls, Carved with Fruit, Flowers, Palmes, Paurells, Pelicans, Pigeons … vi Vasses with Thistles, Roses and two Boys, Laurel & other Ornaments in the Front and upon the Topp of the Kings Seate, with Drapery, Fruit, Flowers, Crootesses, Starres, Roses and severall other Ornaments of Carving about the Altar Pews and other places in and about the Kings Chappell. £498 0s 5½d.
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Photograph of portrait of William, Duke of Gloucester, over the East Door of the Presence Chamber.





Evelyn visited Windsor in 1683 to see how Gibbons was getting on and was more than enthusiastic with what he found. ‘Stupendous and beyond description, the incomparable carving of our Gibbons who is without controversie the greatest master both of invention and rareness of work that the world ever had in any age; nor doubt I at all that he will prove as Greate a master in the statuary art.’ Gibbons was by now not only working in wood but also in stone, including the white marble panels of the pedestal above which a representation of Charles II sat on horseback. Much of the work which Gibbons carried out at Windsor was desecrated in 1827 by the architect Jeffry Wyatt at the behest of George IV as part of his improvement programme of Windsor Castle.
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Gibbons’ carving in the Throne Room at Windsor.





In 1682, Gibbons was awarded a ‘Pencion after the rate of £100 per annum for repaireing cleansing and preserving the carved worke in Windsor Castle’. The payment was generous for the time but the award of a pension under royal warrant signified that Gibbons had finally made his mark.


Today, all that remains at Windsor are three rooms of carvings and various other pieces. Between 1680 and 1682, Gibbons was working on other pieces and one that would eventually lead to an introduction to Sir Christopher Wren who ‘faithfully promised to employ him for the future’. This was a piece for the Duke of Florence, as a present from the king and was to become an object of importance in entente cordiale. Cosimo III, Grand Duke of Tuscany, became friendly with Charles II during his visit to England in 1669 and was treated in the kindest of fashions by the king. The result of such goodwill was that Gibbons received from Charles an imposing order for a carving of some magnitude and this was completed to the satisfaction of the king and the delight of Cosimo.


The undoubted glory of the Cosimo panel is the profusion of detail described by Frederick Oughton (1979):


the effect is gained not so much by the foremost quiver, medallion and chain, the notated score, trumpet, sword, crown and coronet, as by the frame created by the carved fruit, flowers and acanthus scrolls which crowd in to impart a satisfying richness of effect. But other items busily clamour for attention, including jonquils, cyclamen, walnuts almost falling out of their shells, a central sprig of what may well be laurel leaves, and the perfectly formed seashells.




Another panel was commissioned by Charles’ brother, James II, which he intended to dispatch to Modena, with his eye set on marriage into Italian nobility. The subject was a vanitas which incorporated a skull and a medallion containing a miniature of Gibbons himself, around the perimeter of which were carved the words ‘GIBBONS INVENTOR SCULPSIT LONDINA’. An intriguing panel, it consists of acanthus scrolls, hanging doves and includes barley, shells, shamrock, a burst-open pea pod, coins and snowdrops, and represented one of the most unusual collections of objects which Gibbons ever put together in a single carving.
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The Cosimo Panel (1,701 x 1,346 x 330mm).





By now, Gibbons was becoming incredibly wealthy but remained known as a craftsman rather than an artist. As a result of royal patronage, he was better known than any other craftsman at the time. His home ‘The King’s Arms’ in Bow Street, Covent Garden, where Sir Peter Lely, the artist was his neighbour, assisted his move up the social ladder and became a meeting place for the gentry. In January 1702 ‘The King’s Arms’, which had always been in a ruinous state, fell down. This gave Gibbons an opportunity to rebuild the house and plan many rooms for the display of pictures and carvings alike. Here he employed not only an apprentice but a lodger who acted as a nursemaid as well as domestic servants to assist with the running of the household.


At his premises ‘La Belle Sauvage’, Ludgate Hill, Gibbons set up an apprenticeship system that aimed to keep the craft of carving alive in England. He attracted a number of apprentices of high potential and calibre, some of whom had worked at Windsor with him. These were to include Arnold Quellin, followed by qualified gilder, René Cousin. Also from Windsor came floral artist, Anthony Montingo who had worked with Antonio Verrio; artist Nicholas Lauzellier, John Vanderstein a stone sculptor, and sculptors Anthony Veeluke and Lawrence Vandermuelin. The Ludgate workshops and establishment became one of the leading places in London for the commissioning of pieces in wood and stone, Quellin handling most of the stonework that came their way. They also started a foundry for casting in bronze, thereby adding even more services for potential clients.


One of the most important works in wood and metal was at the Chelsea Military Hospital, which had been set up originally by Charles II in 1682. Gibbons was commissioned but delegated the work to his two associates William Emmett and William Morgan, both craftsmen and liverymen of the Joiners’ Company. By 1687, works were well under way including Corinthian capitals for the oak altar piece, flowerpots for parapets, pilaster capitals and medallions. The altar rails were important pieces worked upon by Emmett and Morgan. Much of the work at Chelsea has been attributed to Gibbons but, in reality, some were undertaken by Emmett and Morgan in the ‘Gibbons style’ which in many cases has confused historians as to what is wholly Gibbons’ work or that of his associates and apprentices, or was completed by those who simply followed him and created works in their own right in the ‘Gibbons style’.
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The Queen’s Gallery, west wall fireplace and overmantel, with a display of oriental porcelain. The carved and gilded mirror surrounds were made by Gibbons.





After Charles II’s death in 1685, James II made a number of commissions, many of which came through Sir Christopher Wren, the first being the building of an extension to the palace of Whitehall. James had married Mary of Modena, who had received Gibbons’ panel, and her wish at Whitehall was for a large chapel where she could make her devotions. Much of the work was to be done in stone but there were plenty of opportunities for Gibbons to work there. This included the pulpit with the four Evangelists, an altar picture frame, a carved throne with ‘boyes’, and a profusion of ornamentation, gilded by René Cousin. The ornamentation on the organ was on a grand scale with angelic figures bearing trumpets. The pressure to complete these works was intense and Gibbons himself did some of the work but a number of works were also done by Emmett and, in some cases, works commenced by Gibbons were completed by Emmett. These works were incredibly extravagant and had to be completed in haste but kept Gibbons and his associates occupied and fully employed. Due to the speed of the works, they were perceived as lesser examples of craftsmanship compared to the reign of Charles II. Sadly though, the chapel was pulled down within two years, with the altar being relocated to Hampton Court, and then to London where it was wedded to the high altar in Westminster Abbey by Wren and Gibbons themselves where it remained up to the time of George IV’s coronation, after which it was removed. In 1691 Queen Mary gave the organ to St James’s church in Piccadilly where it remains. The pulpit with its four Evangelists went in 1696 to the Danish church in Wellclose Square. It closed in 1869 and the pulpit was eventually sold.


Further works were to come at Whitehall via Wren and included Mary’s private apartments where Gibbons carved a chimneypiece which framed a marble bas-relief depicting Goliath, a piece that was copied and is now at Dalkeith Palace in Midlothian. The original was destroyed in the Whitehall fire. Gibbons created other works here for Mary’s drawing room, including a giant overmantel in stone with a carved wood chimneypiece, along with another seven that were included here. The amount of work that was being generated through the Ludgate Hill workshop ensured financial stability for Gibbons and his team of assistants.
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The Presence Chamber, Kensington Palace, west elevation. Detail of the limewood overmantel carvings showing a cherub with closed eyes, surrounded by drapery and flowers.




After a period of political turbulence ended with the accession of William and Mary, there were grave concerns for the future of many of the craftsmen that had relied so heavily on royal patronage. Gibbons was lucky enough to be retained and kept busy and was sent to work at Nottingham House, eventually renamed Kensington Palace, where Sir Christopher Wren was supervising the construction of the east wing and new state apartments. Gibbons took Emmett and Nicholas Alcock who was later responsible for carving the William III head for the Tower of London. Emmett and Alcock worked laboriously at Kensington Palace, producing ‘1405 feet of Ionicke modillion and hollow Cornish’ or ‘942 feet of picture frame over ye Doores and Chimneyes’ while Gibbons himself was carving ‘2 Carved Chimney pieces in the Queen’s Closett on a glasse ground & ye other on a gold ground in her Dressing Roome’ and ‘4 glasses over 4 doors in ye Queen’s Gallery with festoons & foliage & other ornaments’. Little remains in Kensington Palace but there is one magnificent frame in the Presence Chamber.
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The Chapel Royal, Hampton Court, looking east.





Hampton Court was to become the most extensive example of Tudor domestic building, on a site that was acquired on lease from the Order of St John of Jerusalem by Cardinal Wolsey in 1514. Like many of the royal palaces, it would fall in and out of favour depending on the whims of the incumbent monarch. George III and IV never lived there and it was only inhabited as a grace and favour residence for many years. However, as Daniel Defoe wrote in A tour thro’ the whole island of Great Britain, divided into circuits or journies (1724–6), between 1691 and 1696, William ‘fix’d upon Hampton Court and it was in his Reign that it put on new Cloaths and being dress’d gay and glorious made the Figure we now see it in’. It was William who authorised the expenditure but it was very much Queen Mary who consulted Wren to discuss what improvements were required. Works at Hampton Court were carried out in three periods; the first was 1689 to 1694, in which year the queen died; the second period was from 1699 to 1702, a period of financial stringency and the death of the king; and finally the phase from 1709 to 1711 with the Chapel Royal as the centrepiece.
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The West Closet, north elevation. Detail of the carved oak overmantel. The appearance of musical instruments in the carvings may indicate that the closet was originally intended to be a private music room.





The early stages at Hampton Court included the construction of the Water Gallery, with work by Emmett, to house the queen’s collection of paintings and porcelain, which was later demolished. No facilities had existed at Hampton Court for tradesmen but this was soon to change with a large open but temporary workshop set up for the use of the woodcarvers. Here Gibbons created the enriched dado, dado-railing and architraves, the panels above the doors for Queen Mary’s Closet and the King’s Writing Closet, the wooden centrepiece carved with various devices and the Star and Garter, and the initial ‘W’ for the Guard Room, also the heads of the cherubs which were to be set in the Tudor roof of the Chapel. Gibbons was in the ascendancy and in 1693 he was granted the recognition he deserved in the form of a warrant as Master Carver. On 8 November 1693, it was ordered that Gibbons was to be paid ‘the usual Fee or Sallary … payable from the Feast of St Michael th’ Archangel last past’.
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The King’s Eating Room, Hampton Court Palace. East elevation showing the overmantel by Grinling Gibbons, framing a portrait of Christian IV of Denmark by Karel van Mander III.



Hampton Court at the time was an exhilarating place to work but many of Gibbons’ plans were never realised despite the considerable number of drawings he produced. The death of the queen from smallpox at the age of thirty-two in December 1694 ended the golden era at Hampton Court. Wren, Gibbons and Nicholas Hawksmoor were all involved in planning her grand funeral, which resulted in one of the most elaborate catafalques (a decorated wooden framework supporting the coffin) ever made in England. The funeral was one of the grandest affairs seen in England at that time.


Hampton Court fell out of favour after the death of the king in 1706. Although Gibbons now had his ‘fee or sallary’, royal patronage was not assured. Emmett, his fellow carver, received no such payment and had to rely on steady employment. Emmett’s work was becoming more acclaimed but he had never received the patronage or publicity that Gibbons had from his association with Wren and Evelyn. Gibbons himself relied heavily on this as he still spoke poor English and was not fully literate. His works at Hampton Court need to be taken in perspective. None of it was especially original and Avray Tipping concluded that much of what he produced there ‘amounted to mere titivations for an acquisitive Queen’. Elsewhere, his work stood on its own. At the time of the king’s death, Gibbons’ future was somewhat in the balance and his hope lay once again with Sir Christopher Wren who remained as busy as ever.





OXFORD AND CAMBRIDGE


GIBBONS NEED NOT have worried and he continued to be kept busy on a number of private commissions and monuments with his standing remaining high. Despite his number of commissions at Hampton Court, Whitehall and Kensington Palace, he was able to take on further works in the university towns of Oxford and Cambridge, where Wren was heavily involved. In April 1663, Wren had shown his model of the Sheldonian Theatre in Oxford to members of the Royal Society, and shortly after, the Master of Pembroke College, Cambridge, laid the foundation stone of the new chapel, also designed by Wren.


Wren’s good friend, Dr Isaac Barrow, the Master of Trinity College in Cambridge, wanted a new library, which was eventually begun in 1675. Progress was incredibly slow and the building fabric was not completed until about 1690. The previous year, Charles Seymour, sixth Duke of Somerset, was appointed Chancellor of the University and works were progressed much more rapidly, with the first payment to Gibbons made in 1691. Gibbons was eventually to work for the Duke at Petworth House.





Gibbons’ work at Trinity College was laid over wainscoting carried out by a series of highly competent joiners and, in particular, by Cornelius Austen. Austen was responsible for the cedar bookcases which stand out from the walls to form small study cells. On each, Gibbons carved a limewood coat of arms on the bookcase ends. The designs by Wren were altered to include a niche in the upper part of the south end to take a marble monument of the sixth Duke by Gibbons. The Duke’s three crests and cyphers were repeated four times again in limewood. Along the eastern side of the library, the lesser benefactors who had contributed towards the cost of the bookcases were commemorated, and also the Bishop of Coventry who had left £50 a year to purchase books. The coats of arms are carved from laminated sheets of limewood and embellish a surprisingly plain room which has great doorcases with Corinthian columns at each end. The royal arms of William III are above in the broken pediment, added by Gibbons, crowned and gartered and set between wings, trumpets and palms. This was a favourite of Gibbons, with ribbons which, falling across wings, are knotted at their edge and then go on to carry festoons for the pediment. Ruched ribbons slung over wooden nails carry swags of fruit and flowers on the side panels, while neighbouring niches are hooded with more carvings: within, acanthus scrolls; without, beribboned garlands of flowers, palm and wheat flanked, on the doorposts, with twin amorini (small chubby naked boys representing cupid) heading drops of folded drapes entwined with chains of primroses. Some of the busts on the bookcases are of later eighteenth-century origins, but the plaster ones of the upper layer may be by Gibbons although no evidence remains except that he had charged for ‘bustos’ but was not specific in his account.
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The Library at Trinity College in Cambridge.
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Trinity College Library, Cambridge.
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The chapel at Trinity College, Oxford.





It is perhaps a timely moment to mention the relationship between Gibbons and Christopher Wren. Gibbons by now, was certainly no ordinary craftsman. Wren seems to have taken his London workforce for granted, considering as good tradesmen people who were in fact unusually talented: masons like the Strongs; joiners like the Hopsons; and carvers and sculptors like Gibbons, Pearce, Cibber, Emmett and Maine were all at his disposal. Despite a certain reticence by Wren, by 1694, Gibbons was turning his hand to the magnificent work that Wren required of him at St Paul’s Cathedral.
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The intricate carvings in the chapel of Trinity College, Oxford.





Traveller Celia Fiennes visited both the libraries at Oxford and Cambridge and noted at Queen’s ‘good Carvings’ but at Trinity, she noted, ‘the Library farre exceeds that at Oxford … the finest Carving in wood and flowers birds leaves figures of all sorts as I ever saw’. She does, however, go on to state that the fine reredos in the chapel at Trinity College, Oxford, which she visited in 1694, was ‘very fine carving of thin white wood just like at Windsor, it being in the same hand’. The reredos frame, with its acanthus frieze, is typical of Gibbons but appears to have been carried out by Jonathan Maine, according to letters at Corpus Christi and the Bodleian Library. The accounts for the chapel in Oxford do not remain, designed in 1691 by Wren in conjunction with the Dean. It was consecrated in April 1694. While the work at Trinity College, Oxford, is worthy of Gibbons, we only have the word of Celia Fiennes. However, every scroll and cherub here speaks of Gibbons at his best and is reminiscent of his work at Hampton Court.
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Trinity College Chapel, Oxford.
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St Paul’s Cathedral choir, where Gibbons completed his contributions between 1696 and 1697.






CHAPELS, CHURCHES AND A CATHEDRAL




AT THE DEATH of Charles II in 1685, there were concerns that carving might become unfashionable. On the contrary, the Ludgate Hill workshops were incredibly busy with work for future commissions. Gibbons’ joiners would ‘prepare and glew ye Limetree for the carving of the great Chapell’ while others were putting together ‘a panel six footte and five foote high for Mr Gibbons to draw upon’. This is a useful insight into how Gibbons was working at this time. Gibbons ordered the wood by size which was based on the drawings which came from Wren and his associates. When the wood was ready, it was Gibbons himself who sketched the rough design directly onto the surface, allowing enough depth for deep cutting and sinuous shaping which was typical of his style. A closer examination of Gibbons’ work indicates that sections were added by dowelling or gluing after the main body was carved. One of the finest examples is the reredos at St James’s Piccadilly, still considered one of Gibbons’ finest works. Evelyn described it on 7 December 1684:



I went to see the new church at St James’s, elegantly built; the altar was especially adorn’d, the white marble inclosure curiously & richly carved, the flowers & garland about the walls by Mr Gibbons in wood; a pelican with her young at her breast, just over the altar in the carv’d compartment and border, invironing the purple velvet fringed with HIS richly embroider’d, & most notable plate, were given by Sir R. Geere to the value of £200. There is no altar any where in England, nor has there been any abroad, more handsomely adorn’d.
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St James’s Piccadilly, and the finely decorated reredos above the altar, 1684.
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A pelican with her young at her breast, St James’s Piccadilly.





Evelyn was rightly fulsome in his praise for Gibbons’ work at St James’s with the reredos highly embellished with pendulous bunches of grapes and outbursts of gourds, currants and shells and an incredibly large floriation which includes the poppy seedhead, tulips, roses, sunflower and martagon lilies. Gibbons is seen at his most confident here, with a greater logic of composition in his work at St James’s than anywhere else.
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St James’s Piccadilly, pendulous bunches of grapes.





There are other fine examples within churches including the reredos at St Mary Abchurch in Abchurch Lane, London, which carries many of the same design elements including the pelican which surmounts both. There is also a font cover in All Hallows, Barking-by-the-Tower, which incorporates some of Gibbons’ best full-length cherubim with a dove at the crest. It was given to the church in 1681 and over the years was neglected but has since been fully restored. The cherubs are the main feature of the font cover and are fine examples of Gibbons’ style.
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The fine reredos at St Mary Abchurch, London.
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A pelican with her young, a detail used previously by Gibbons, here at St Mary Abchurch, London.
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St Mary Abchurch, reredos detail.
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All Hallows, Barking-by-the-Tower, font cover.





At St Paul’s Cathedral, many documents remain for every stage of its building and it was here that Wren was ‘to build for Eternity’ despite the many commissions and committees he had to endure. At St Paul’s, Wren reserved for himself the freedom to vary the ornaments as he went along. By the time that St Paul’s was ready for the carvers in the 1690s, Gibbons’ reputation had been firmly established. It appeared, according to the Wren Society, that Gibbons filled in the decorative detail on inch-scale details of Sir Christopher Wren’s work as drawn in outline and supplied to him. By the early 1690s, both Gibbons and Jean Tijou were providing woodcarvings and metal screens for the interior, and in 1694, Bernard Smith was contracted to supply the organ, eventually encased beautifully by Gibbons. Between 1696 and 1697, Gibbons and his team were at work, carving in stone and in oak as well as limewood in the completed choir, and working on the case and screen of the great west organ. The joiner was Charles Hopson who prepared certain models for important features of the interior wood structures, such as seats in the choir, the altar, the Dean’s seat, choir stalls and organ cases. Gibbons’ carvings, as skilful as they were, caused some concern in relation to costs and Wren was instructed to adjust a number of prices with Gibbons, especially with regard to the organ cases.
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St Paul’s Cathedral, choir stalls and south choir organ, with the Lord Mayor’s stall to the centre.
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Finer detail on the choir stalls.





The woodcarver Jonathan Maine was also working here independently and it is difficult in places to distinguish between his work and Gibbons’. Maine appeared to do no stone carving, unlike Gibbons. Maine carried out the woodcarving in oak of the Morning Prayer Chapel screen and side chapels, including the vestries. Gibbons had started work on a number of external stone carvings and, by July 1694, he was being paid for interior carving within the dome, and in 1694–5 for twenty-six stone ‘Festoones’ at £13 each on the outside under the windows in the length of the nave.
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St Paul’s Cathedral with details atop the bishop’s throne.
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Stone carving inside St Paul’s Cathedral.





Without any doubt, the greatest surviving range of woodcarving by Gibbons and his team at St Paul’s was in the choir, which was originally divided from the body of the church by a great screen supporting the organ case. Except for the carved angels on the organ case there was no interior figure-sculpture, only Gibbons’ swirling foliage, doves, pelicans and emblems, none of which was allowed to project more than two inches. The work here consisted in providing two banks of choir stalls to the north and south of the choir, a bishop’s throne and stall, a Lord Mayor’s stall, the organ cases and a stall for the Dean.



[image: ../img/SLI874_041.jpg]

St Paul’s Cathedral, stone carving beneath an external window.






[image: ../img/SLI874_042.jpg]

External stone carvings by Gibbons at St Paul’s.





It is not known how many carvers Gibbons employed at St Paul’s and whether much of the work was done in situ or in workshops elsewhere. By the end of the seventeenth century the choir and dome were almost finished but the final decoration and enrichments took several more years to complete. It was also during these busy years after the Great Fire that Wren concerned himself particularly with the design of the new City churches. With eighty-seven churches destroyed, fifty-two were rebuilt. Seventeen were started in 1670, and by 1676, when Wren was much involved with St Paul’s, twenty-eight in total were in hand. The variety of the interiors of these and their towers rising above many streets has proved fascinating to historians over several decades. However, too many of the interior carved fittings of these City churches have been credited to Gibbons. The only ones that are documented and can be attributed to him with absolute certainty are the altarpieces of St Mary Abchurch and St James’s Piccadilly. Many others have features claimed to have been carved by Gibbons but with no provenance.
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St Vedast Foster church, one of the City of London churches rebuilt by Wren with the pulpit allegedly by Gibbons.
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St Vedast Foster church with font cover, attributed to Gibbons.
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A portrait of King Henry VIII hangs over the fireplace in the Carved Room, at Petworth House and Park, West Sussex. Many carvings here are by Grinling Gibbons. However, carvings to the portrait of Henry VIII are attributed to John Selden.







COUNTRY HOUSES AND STATELY HOMES




THE FINAL COMPLETION of St Paul’s Cathedral was the end of yet another phase in Gibbons’ career, although new commissions were still arriving and included a number of country houses and stately homes. Petworth House in Sussex is perhaps the most well considered. Constable was to call Petworth ‘the house of art’, and it contains some of the finest artwork and sculptures in the country. Petworth passed by inheritance into the Percy family in 1150. The ninth Earl of Northumberland was a notable scholar and bibliophile, whose son, the tenth Earl, founded the Petworth picture collection in the 1630s. The tenth Earl’s granddaughter, Elizabeth, as the Percy heiress, was married in 1682 to Charles Seymour, sixth Duke of Somerset, nicknamed the ‘Proud Duke’, who rebuilt Petworth with her money, looking to Versailles for inspiration and completing the work by 1702. The Duke was a patron and a collector and employed royal craftsmen in rebuilding and refurnishing Petworth, including Grinling Gibbons. Gibbons’ employment by the Duke was probably due to his previous work for the Crown and his work in Wren’s library at Trinity College, Cambridge, the Duke’s old college. Gibbons’ work at Petworth is among his finest achievements and the Carved Room is the most magnificent of all. The first Carved Room was half its current size and was decorated around 1690 by Gibbons, who produced ‘the most superb monument of his skill’, as described by Horace Walpole. Walpole went on to describe it as being ‘gloriously flounced all round with whole length pictures, with much the finest carving of Gibbons that ever my eyes beheld. There are birds absolutely feathered: and two antique vases with bas-relieves, as perfect and beautiful as if they were carved by a Grecian master.’ The Carved Room is one of the most impressive rooms in the country with a panoply of carved doves, musical instruments, large baskets of flowers and swooping festoons and tightly bunches trusses. To some it may appear overpowering with an abundance of ornamentation. To many it is the epitome of Gibbons at his finest.
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An Edwardian view of Petworth House and the Carved Room.
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The Carved Room, with the four paintings by Turner restored to the panelling, at Petworth House and Park, West Sussex. Many carvings are attributed to Grinling Gibbons.
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The limewood carving of musical instruments by Grinling Gibbons, situated on the east wall of the Carved Room at Petworth.





There is little doubt that much of the work at Petworth is by Gibbons although Vertue does question some of the credibility, citing John Selden, who was a talented carver responsible for various works with over twenty years of service at Petworth. He was at Petworth before Gibbons arrived and it is reasonable to suppose that examples of his work are here and often in the style of Gibbons. The elaborate carvings around the portrait of Henry VIII were probably carved by Selden in 1689–90 originally for the Duke’s dining room, now the Beauty Room. Further introductions to the Carved Room appeared in 1815 with the arrival of carver Jonathan Ritson who was the son of a Whitehaven carpenter. Ritson was a master of wildlife carvings, producing cats chasing birds, owls attacking mice, butterflies and moths along with aquatic life symbolised by crayfish struggling in thickets of water-weed. Once engaged at Petworth, he began to fill many of the blank spaces between the carvings of Gibbons and Selden. Petworth, with its combination of Gibbons, Selden and eventually the often drunk Ritson is an absolute showcase of English eccentricity.
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Burghley House, Lincolnshire, with overdoors possibly by Gibbons. They are certainly in his style.





Gibbons was not averse to stimulating business from many of the fine country houses. Although he was the man in charge, he was satisfied in delegating responsibility to his senior carvers. He spent time with architects and clients and at times his pricing was erratic, depending on how busy the workshop was. His estimates were often substantial and many discovered he was a luxury they could not afford and went on to employ lesser carvers than Gibbons, but who were more than competent. This has often caused attribution difficulties as many worked in the Gibbons’ style. Examples include Badminton House in Gloucestershire and Burghley House in Lincolnshire. The latter was decorated to the order of the fifth Earl of Exeter and it does appear that Gibbons had a hand in it, as Vertue wrote ‘… picture Frames, chimney pieces & door Cases carved with Birds, Fruit & Flowers, in the most Beautifull manner, done by Grinlin Gibbons’. Gibbons was paid £50 by Lord Exeter on 6 July 1683 and on 21 December 1685 a similar amount. However, at Burghley, his Lordship also employed Thomas Young and Jonathan Maine between 1682 and 1687. Little is known of Thomas Young, although he was employed at Chatsworth under Samuel Watson, the then carver in residence. Maine was a versatile imitator in the Gibbons’ style. Both Young and Maine are known to have worked together and there are recorded payments by the fifth Earl to both these men to the value of £730 but these are known to be incomplete. As late as 1691 they worked together at Burghley for a full year earning £143. As well as overdoors and the like, we know that they produced large numbers of frames for paintings purchased in Italy by the Earl. There has been considerable rethinking about the authorship of Gibbons’ carvings in many locations, including at Burghley. David Esterly (1998) suggests that if there are any carvings by Gibbons here, it may be the overdoors in the First George Room. More recent conservationists question this even now. Either way, proving authenticity still remains challenging.
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Limewood carving of game birds, pea pods and ears of corn in the Marble Hall at Belton House, Lincolnshire, UK, may be attributed to Grinling Gibbons. The portrait is of ‘Old’ Sir John Brownlow, First Baronet of Belton (1594–1679) and is attributed to Gerard Soest (c.1600–81), dated 1644.





Other great country houses offer equally challenging ambiguities. At Belton House, Kesteven, near Stamford in Lincolnshire, there is a chimneypiece carved in 1688 by Edmund Carpenter. This was the home of the Brownlow family for 300 years. Carpenter received £26 for the work but its authenticity as Gibbons’ work was later endorsed ‘this light interlacing scrollwork was originated by Gibbons and is met with in most of his important works. It died out with him and no one has successfully attempted to carry it out since his time.’


At Hackwood House in Hampshire, the seat of the first Duke of Bolton, there is a large number of carvings brought from another family seat at Abbotstone, Alresford. It was believed that the first Lord Bolton employed Gibbons to carve coronets, festoons, swags which hang on nails, pomegranates and flowers. Some aspects of the works here are similar to Gibbons’ pieces found in the Victoria and Albert Museum, London, but other features such as two almost-nude females and squirrels do not feature in any of his other works, therefore questioning the authenticity of them.
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The North portico at Blenheim Palace. Gibbons was responsible for the Corinthian capitals, pediment sculpture and the chained slaves upon the gable.





At Chatsworth, while there were other carvers assisting Gibbons, it is clear that much of the work is dominated by his influence. Again, no accounts seem to exist and the only evidence is a note by Horace Walpole who wrote, ‘When Gibbons had finished his works in that palace he presented the Duke with a point cravat and a medal with his own head all preserved in a glass case in the gallery. I have another cravat by him, the art of which arrives even to deception.’ There remains a strong case that many of the carvings here were by Samuel Watson who remained at Chatsworth until he died in 1715. Watson was a collector of designs including a number by Gibbons, in particular Gibbons’ reredos in St James’s Piccadilly. Some documentation refers to Watson who ‘assisted Gibbons in the carving of the chapel’. The carvings at Chatsworth are fine but not deemed to be the greatest, although the exception is an overmantel in the final stateroom which features netted birds and is described thus: ‘the most marvellous work of all is a net of game; you imagine at first glance that the gamekeeper has hung up his day’s sport on the wall and that some of the birds are still in the death flutter’.


Drumlanrig Castle in Dumfries and Galloway was a mansion built to the design of Sir William Bruce in 1645–88 for William, first Duke of Queensberry. Here is found a large chimneypiece with the upper part carved allegedly by Gibbons and the lower part in white marble. Although no accounts exist it is highly likely this is the work of Gibbons as few carvers could have achieved such naturalistic work in such a small space. At Cullen, in Banffshire, there is a panel which is very similar to the Cosimo panel that is attributed to Gibbons and may well have come from Holme Lacy at the time of the sale in Hereford in 1874.
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Gibbons’ sculpture and chained slaves at Blenheim Palace.





Towards the latter part of his career as he was approaching the age of sixty, Gibbons was to be employed at Blenheim by the Duchess of Marlborough who preferred designs to be plain and clean, stating ‘I am determined to have no thing carved … my taste having always been to have things plain and clean, from a piece of wainscot to a lady’s face’. At Blenheim, Gibbons was primarily responsible for stone carving with only a small amount of woodcarving carried out. Blenheim was to prove challenging on various accounts for many of the craftsmen employed there, including Gibbons.





Work at Blenheim has long been in evidence given an account dated 12 December 1711 ‘to Mr Gringling Gibbons, Mar. Carver – £1799.18.7’. In view of the lack of any real evidence, the question was, exactly what did Gibbons do at Blenheim? The Long Library displays significant carvings but this was decorated four years after his death. Evidence was eventually uncovered in the Marlborough Papers with six accounts of his work there, and it was nearly all stonework with much of it on the roof. A start was also made on the eighteen statues which were to surmount the quadrants on either side of the great portico. Gibbons was to charge £25 for each of these with the exception being ‘a Charity with three Children’ for which he charged £35. Three of these statues were of Peace, Truth and Fortitude and carved in freestone. Defoe called them ‘fine’ statues but whether Gibbons carved them himself is unknown. Later bills refer to the chained slaves on the upper north pediment, for ‘Pallas upon the Acroteria’ below them and nearly all the other remaining statuary, capitals and finials. His finest works here are reserved for the ‘2 Lyons on the Pilasters’ over the eastern archway into the great north forecourt which Defoe called ‘lions squeezing cocks’. It is not until October 1712 that bills refer to ‘Carvings in Wood’ but these only refer to works amounting to £50. Gibbons’ final bill dated November 1712 is for marble work and included ‘sawing, working, polishing and setting up four dorecases and two chimney pieces in my Lord Dukes Apartment (£35); the chimney-piece in the Bow Window Roome (£20.16.1); the Great Dorecase in the West Wall of the Salon, and some marble Work for the Neeches there (£179.6s).’ It is possible Gibbons was asked to return later to finish off some works, but the palace became deserted between 1712 and 1714 and many of his accounts remained unsettled as the Treasury had to pay off Queen Anne’s debts. Gibbons’ work at Blenheim, while out of character with much of his other work elsewhere, shows that he could produce work equally as powerful as Blenheim’s architect Vanburgh demanded and imprint on it his own remarkable style.
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Blenheim Palace and the east archway to the forecourt with ‘lions squeezing cocks’.
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Gibbons’ ‘lions squeezing cocks’.
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Gibbons’ bronze statue of James II at the National Gallery, London.







LATTER DAYS




THROUGHOUT GIBBONS’ CAREER, he was often asked to create items of no real value, many of which have now vanished. As well as his work with woodcarving, he was often called to create features in stone statuary. In this line of work, he did not excel. The last fifteen years of his life were devoted primarily to stone sculpture and he created monuments in such buildings as York Minster, Westminster Abbey and Nannerch in Wales.


Some of his latter carving work was reserved for the Tower of London, where he worked as a carver in wood for the Line of Kings. The Line as first composed has long since disappeared, but the work by Gibbons and many others remains to this day. It was first established in 1660 as a utilitarian measure to store armour with figures of Prince Henry, Henry VIII, Henry VII, Edward III, Charles I, Edward IV, Henry VI, Earl of Leicester, Charles Brandon and William the Conqueror. These early examples were primarily well-proportioned bodies fitted with broomstick legs and appeared to be ‘clothes-horses’ and not statuary. Between 1685 and 1690 new wooden horses were made with figures to sit astride them. Gibbons’ involvement came in 1685 with an order for a figure to be made ‘together wt ye sd late Kings face to be placed in ye sd Armour’. Other carvers were involved including William Morgan, John Nost, Thomas Quellin, William Emmett and Marmaduke Townson. By the time the Line was complete, there were twenty-two mounted figures. What exactly Gibbons did here is again difficult to attribute, but it appears he worked on Charles I and Charles II. The work on the Line of Kings drew criticism and was never perceived as exceptional.


In 1695, Gibbons carried out a carving for the overmantel for the Board Room of the Admiralty in Whitehall. An odd introduction here is the addition of two mermen, each with two tails, and the entwined fishes. Mermen do not appear anywhere else in Gibbons’ work. The overmantel also contains a profusion of carving including such maritime symbols as spars and topmasts, telescopes, globes, charts and logbooks, and Mercury’s staff against a background of martagons, hops and primroses.
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Statue of King Charles II, the bronze by Gibbons at the Chelsea Hospital.





To this day, carvings are still occasionally attributed to Gibbons but their lineage is often doubtful, such as the carving of the arms of William III with his motto in the Oak Room of the New River Head, Clerkenwell, London, said to have been designed by Wren and Gibbons. Dating from 1697, this seems unlikely as both were still busily working at St Paul’s Cathedral. In 2014, a previously unknown sculpture by Gibbons was discovered hidden ‘in plain sight’ in a Bristol church. The marble monument alleged to be by Gibbons has hung on the wall of St Mary’s, Henbury, since it was completed 330 years ago. There are likely to be many other carvings in a wide number of places still to be attributed, but whether these are truly the work of Gibbons remains to be seen. With the vast array of carvers at the time and imitators working in the ‘Gibbons style’, any such discoveries will need to be firmly proven.
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Statue of Sir Robert Clayton at St Thomas’ Hospital, London by Gibbons. Clayton was Lord Mayor of the City of London in 1679 and President of St Thomas’ Hospital between 1692 and 1707. The statue was commissioned in 1701. The hands appear to be recent replacements.





Grinling Gibbons died at home at Bow Street on 3 August 1721, of unknown causes, and is buried in St Paul’s, Covent Garden, in an unmarked grave, where his wife Elizabeth had been interred in 1719. His goods were sold on 15 November 1722 as he died intestate. It appears that when Gibbons died he was not a wealthy man, but he was far from poor. His legacy lives on today in the many buildings that he decorated, from Windsor to Whitehall, and Petworth to St Paul’s Cathedral and is still celebrated at the Victoria and Albert Museum in London where many of his works are exhibited and celebrated.



FURTHER READING
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Green, David. Grinling Gibbons: his Work as Carver and Statuary. Country Life Ltd, London, 1964.


Green, David; and Hussey, Christopher. Blenheim Palace Re-visited: Grinling Gibbons at Blenheim. Country Life Ltd, 1949.


Oughton, Frederick. Grinling Gibbons & the English Woodcarving Tradition. Stobart, London, 1979.


Tipping, Henry Avray. Grinling Gibbons and the Woodwork of his Age. Country Life Ltd, London, 1914.
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The east gate tower at Blenheim.






PLACES TO VISIT

Note that the places associated with Gibbons are many and varied, and that this is a select list.


 


Blenheim Palace, Woodstock, Oxfordshire OX20 1PP. Website: www.blenheimpalace.com Telephone: 01993 810530 


Hampton Court Palace, East Molesey, Surrey KT8 9AU. Website: www.hrp.org.uk/hampton-court-palace Telephone: 020 3166 6000


Kensington Palace, Kensington Gardens, London W8 4PX. Website: www.hrp.org.uk/kensington-palace Telephone: 020 3166 6000


Petworth House, Church Street, Petworth GU28 0AE. Website: www.nationaltrust.org.uk/petworth-house-and-park Telephone: 01798 342207


St James’s Piccadilly, St James’s Church, 197 Piccadilly, London W1J 9LL. Website: www.sjp.org.uk Telephone: 020 7734 4511


St Mary Abchurch, Abchurch Lane, London EC4N 7BA. Website: www.london-city-churches.org.uk/Churches/StMaryAbchurch/index.html Telephone: 020 7626 1555


St Paul’s Cathedral, St Paul’s Churchyard, London EC4M 8AD. Website: www.stpauls.co.uk Telephone: 020 7246 8348


Windsor Castle, Windsor SL4 1NJ. Website: www.rct.uk/visit/windsor-castle Telephone: 020 3166 6000


Wren Library, Trinity College, Cambridge, CB2 1TQ. Website: www.trin.cam.ac.uk/library/wren-library Telephone: 01233 338400
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